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Miss Stoner Begins Her Story

THE SPECKLED BAND

An Early Morning Visitor for Holmes

For many years, I was a good friend of Sherlock Holmes, the
famous private detective1.
During this time, Holmes solved many unusual mysteries.

But perhaps one of the most unusual was the mystery of the
Speckled Band.

The story began in April, 1883. At that time, Holmes and I
were sharing an apartment in Baker Street, in London.

One morning, I woke up very early. To my surprise, Holmes
was standing beside my bed. He was already dressed.

'What's happened, Holmes?' I asked. 'Is there a fire?'
'No, Watson,' replied Holmes. 'A client2 has just arrived. A

young lady is waiting downstairs. She seems very worried and
upset. I think she has something important to tell me. This could
be an interesting case3, Watson. That's why I woke you up.'

'I'll come at once,' I said.
I was very interested in Holmes' cases. My friend was a very

clever detective. I very much admired his work.
So I dressed quickly and went downstairs with Holmes. The

lady was waiting in our sitting-room. She was dressed all in black.
Over her face she wore a veil4.

'Good morning, madam,' said Holmes. 'I'm Sherlock Holmes
and this is Dr Watson, my friend and helper.' Holmes shut the
door and turned to the lady. 'You're shivering, madam,' he said.
'You must be cold. Sit near the fire and I'll get you some hot
coffee.'

The lady moved nearer the fire. Then she said, 'It isn't the
cold which makes me shiver.'

'What is it, then?'
'It's fear, Mr Holmes. It's terror.'
As she spoke, the lady raised her veil. We saw at once that

she was very frightened. Her eyes were like the eyes of a terrified
animal. She was a young woman, about thirty years old, but her
hair was already turning grey with worry.

Holmes looked at the lady carefully. Then he leant forward
and touched her arm.

'Don't be afraid,' he said kindly. 'I'm sure we can help you.
But first, please tell us your story.'

'Mr Holmes,' said our visitor, 'I know I'm in terrible danger.
Please tell me what to do!'

Miss S toner Begins Her Story

'T'm listening carefully,' said Holmes. So the lady began her
L story.

'My name,' she said, 'is Helen Stoner. My father was an officer
in the Indian army. But he died when I was a baby. After his death,
my mother, my sister Julia and I continued to live in India.
My sister Julia and I were twins5. When Julia and I were only two
years old, my mother married again. She married a man called Dr
Grimesby Roylott. So Dr Roylott became our stepfather.'

'Tell me about Dr Roylott,' said Holmes.
'In the past, Dr Roylott's family were very rich,' said Miss

Stoner. 'But, as the years went by, they lost all their money. Now



Miss Stoner Begins Her Story The Death of Julia

Dr Roylott has only a large, old house and a small piece of land.
The house is called Stoke Moran. I'm living at Stoke Moran with
Dr Roylott now.

'When my stepfather was young, he studied medicine. After
he became a doctor, he went to India. That's where he met my
mother and later married her.

'My mother was a rich woman,' went on Miss Stoner. 'She
had a private income6. Every year, she received a sum of about one
thousand pounds from her bank. When she married Dr Roylott,
an agreement was made about this money.'

'What was this agreement?' asked Holmes.
'If my mother died,' replied Miss Stoner, 'Dr Roylott would

inherit7 her income. After her death, he would receive one
thousand pounds every year.

'But if my sister or I married, some of the one thousand pounds
would go to us instead. We would receive part of the money.'

'I see,' said Holmes.
'After some years, we returned to England from India,' con-

tinued Miss Stoner. 'But soon after we got back, my mother was
killed in an accident. At first, all our neighbours at Stoke Moran
were friendly with my stepfather. They were very happy that
someone from the Roylott family was living at Stoke Moran again.

'But my stepfather didn't want to make friends with anyone.
Whenever he went out, he quarrelled with somebody. He is a
very bad-tempered man and gets angry quickly. Soon, all our
neighbours were afraid of him.'

'Didn't he have any friends at all?' asked Holmes.
'His only friends were gypsies8,' said Miss Stoner. 'These

gypsies move round the country in bands9. Dr Roylott allows
these gypsies to camp on his land.

'Dr Roylott is also very fond of Indian animals. Two of these
- a cheetah and a baboon10 - were sent to him from India. They
run around freely over his land. Everyone is terrified of these
dangerous animals.

'So Julia and I became more and more unhappy,' went on Miss
Stoner. 'No servants wanted to live at Stoke Moran so we had to
do all the work. When Julia died . . .'

'Your sister is dead, then?' asked Holmes. At once, he became
very interested.

'Yes,' said Miss Stoner. 'She was to be married. The date had
been fixed for the wedding. But two weeks before her wedding
day, Julia died.'

The Death of Julia

Holmes leant forward excitedly.
Tell me exactly what happened,' he said.

'On the night of Julia's death,' said Miss Stoner, 'my step-
father went to his room early. Julia and I were sitting together in
my bedroom. We talked until about eleven o'clock. Then Julia
went to bed.

'All the bedrooms at Stoke Moran are in the same part of the
house. They're all next to each other, on the ground floor.

'The door of each bedroom opens into the same corridor. The
windows look out onto the garden. But there are no doors or
windows from one bedroom to the next.'

'I understand,' said Holmes.
'As Julia was leaving my room that evening, she asked a

strange question.
"Tell me, Helen," she said, "have you ever heard anyone

whistle in the middle of the night?"
"No," I said, in surprise. "Why?"

7



The Death of Julia

"Because, during the past few nights," replied Julia, "I have
heard a strange whistle. It's very low and clear. But I don't know
where it comes from."

"Remember," I said, some gypsies are camping near the
house. Perhaps it was one of them whistling at night."

"You're probably right," Julia replied. "Anyway, it doesn't
matter. Goodnight." She smiled at me and closed my door.'

'Did you and Julia always lock your doors at night?' asked
Holmes.

'Yes,' replied Miss Stoner. 'We were afraid of the cheetah
and the baboon. They're dangerous animals. We didn't feel safe
unless our doors and windows were locked.'

'Of course,' said Holmes. 'Please go on.'
'That night, there was a terrible storm,' continued Miss

Stoner. 'The wind was howling and the rain was beating on the
window. I couldn't sleep. Suddenly I heard a dreadful scream. I
knew it was Julia.

'I jumped out of bed and ran into the corridor. As 1 opened my
door, I thought I heard a noise. It was a low, clear whistle. Then I
heard another sound. The second sound was like metal clanging
against metal.

'I saw that my sister's door was open. I stared at it in horror.
Suddenly Julia appeared. She was standing in the doorway. Her
face was white with terror. Her eyes were staring wildly. She was
swaying from side to side, like a drunk person.

'Then she fell on the floor. Her body moved like someone in
terrible pain.

'Suddenly she screamed these words: "Oh, my God! Helen! It
was the band! The speckled band!"

'Then she fainted11. At that moment, my stepfather came out
of his room. He ran down the corridor to help Julia. But there was
nothing he could do.

'My stepfather went to the village to bring another doctor.
But before he returned, poor Julia was dead.'

'She was swaying from side to side, like a drunk person.



The Death of Julia

'How was your sister dressed?' asked Holmes.
'She was wearing her nightdress. In one hand, she was holding

a box of matches and, in the other, a burnt match.'
'So she had lit a match to see around her,' said Holmes.

'That could be important. Was the cause of her death ever
discovered?'

'No,' replied Miss Stoner. 'Nobody could find out how she
died. Her body was not marked in any way. The doors and
windows of Julia's room were locked. The chimney was built so
that no one could climb down into the fireplace from the roof.
Nobody could get in or out of her room. So Julia must have been
alone in her bedroom.'

'But what about her strange words - "The speckled band?" '
asked Holmes. 'What do you think she meant?'

'I don't know,' said Miss Stoner. 'But perhaps she meant a
band of people. Gypsies were camping near the house. Many
of these gypsies wear handkerchiefs12 on their heads. These
handkerchiefs have a design of spots or speckles. So perhaps
Julia was trying to describe the band of gypsies.'

Holmes looked doubtful.
'Please go on,' he said.
'Julia died two years ago,' said Miss Stoner. 'Since her

death, I've been very lonely. But recently, a dear friend of
mine asked me to marry him. We're getting married very
soon.

'But two days ago, some builders arrived at Stoke Moran. The
builders started to knock a hole through my bedroom wall. So I
had to move out of my room and into Julia's room. I've been
sleeping in her bed.'

Miss Stoner stopped for a few moments. Then she said, 'Mr
Holmes, last night, I heard a terrible sound.'

'What was that?' I asked.
'It was a whistle, Dr Watson. A low, clear whistle. The same

sound Julia heard for several nights before she died!'

A Dangerous Enemy

Holmes and I looked at each other in astonishment.
'What did you do?" asked Holmes.

'I jumped out of bed and looked around me,' replied Miss
Stoner. 'But it was dark and I couldn't see anything. At daylight, I
went to the station and caught a train to London. I knew I had to
see you, Mr Holmes. You are the only man who can help me.'

'But I can only help you if you tell me everything,' said
Holmes, 'you have not told me everything, Miss Stoner.'

'What do you mean?' asked Miss Stoner, in surprise.
Holmes did not answer. He took hold of Miss Stoner's arm

and pushed back her sleeve. I saw five red marks on her arm. They
were the marks of four fingers and a thumb. Somebody had held
Miss Stoner's arm tightly.

'Your stepfather has hurt you badly,' said Holmes. Miss
Stoner's face became red.

'Dr Roylott is a very strong man,' she said. 'He doesn't know
how strong he is.'

Holmes stared into the fire without speaking. I knew he was
thinking hard.

'I need some more information,' he said at last. 'But we must
move quickly. I want to go to Stoke Moran today and examine13

the bedrooms there. But your stepfather must not know about
my visit.'

'Dr Roylott has important business in London today,' said
Miss Stoner. 'He'll be away from home all day.'

'Excellent!' cried Holmes. 'Will you come with me, Watson?'
'Of course,' I replied.
'Then, Miss Stoner, we'll arrive at Stoke Moran early this

afternoon'

10 11



A Dangerous Enemy

'I must go now,' said Miss Stoner. 'But I feel much happier, now
that I have told you about my troubles. Goodbye.' She pulled her
veil over her face and left the room.

Holmes leant back in his chair.
'Well, Watson,' he said, 'this matter is very strange.'
'I don't understand it,' I said. 'Helen Stoner's sister, Julia, was

alone in her bedroom. Nobody could get in or out. So how did
she die?'

'And what about the whistle in the night?' said Holmes. 'And
the dying woman's words about the "speckled band"?'

'I don't know,' I said. 'Perhaps the band of gypsies . . .'
Suddenly the door of our room was thrown open and a man

appeared. He was so large that his body almost filled the doorway.
His face was red and his eyes were cruel.

The man stared at Holmes. Then he looked at me.
'Which of you is Holmes?' he asked rudely.
'That's my name,' answered my friend quietly.
'Well, I'm Dr Grimesby Roylott of Stoke Moran,' said the

man. 'I know my stepdaughter's been here. I followed her. What
has she been saying to you?'

Holmes was not afraid of the large man. He was not going to
tell Dr Roylott anything about Helen Stoner's visit. So he said
politely, 'The weather is a little cold just now, isn't it?'

'Answer my question!' shouted Dr Roylott angrily. 'What
has my stepdaughter been saying to you? I've heard about
you, Holmes. You're a busybody. You interfere in other peo-
ple's lives. Well, keep out of my life. I'm a dangerous man.
Look!'

A poker was lying beside the fire. It was made of iron and was
very heavy. Dr Roylott stepped forward and picked it up. He bent
the poker with his huge hands. Then he threw it back into the
fireplace.

'I'm warning you, Holmes. Keep out of my life!' he said again.
Then he left the room.

12 Suddenly the door of our room was thrown open and a man
appeared.



A Visit to Stoke Moran A Visit to Stoke Moran

Holmes began to laugh. 'Well,' he said, 'perhaps I'm not as
large as Dr Roylott. But I'm just as strong.'

As he spoke, Holmes picked up the poker and pulled it
straight again.

'Now,' said Holmes, let's have some breakfast, Watson.
Then I have some business to do. I need more information.'

A Visit to Stoke Moran

I t was nearly one o'clock before Holmes returned. He looked
excited.

'I've been to Mrs Roylott's lawyer,' he said. 'I've seen her
will14. This is what she wanted to happen to her money after her
death.

'After her death, Dr Roylott inherited all of his wife's income.
But if Julia and Helen Stoner married, they would receive a large
part of the income instead.'

'So Dr Roylott would lose a lot of money,' I said.
'Exactly,' said Holmes. 'But now, Watson, we must hurry.

And, please, bring your gun with you.'
We caught a train to Leatherhead, the nearest town to Stoke

Moran. Then we drove along the country lanes to Dr Roylott's
house. It was a beautiful spring day.

Soon we saw a large house through the trees.
'That's Stoke Moran,' said our driver, pointing at the house.

The quickest way to get there is through the fields. See, where
that lady is.'

We saw a lady walking towards us. It was Helen Stoner. We

paid the driver and he set off back to Leatherhead. Miss Stoner
hurried forward to meet us.

'We have plenty of time,' she said. 'Dr Roylott won't return
from London until this evening.'

'We've already met your stepfather,' said Holmes. He told
Miss Stoner about Dr Roylott's visit. Miss Stoner's face went
white.

'So he followed me,' she said. Til never be safe from him.'
'Come,' said Holmes. 'Let's examine the bedrooms.'
We walked across the fields to the house. We saw that work

was being done on one wall of the house. This was the wall of
Miss Stoner's bedroom.

'This is strange,' said Holmes. 'I can't see why this work is
necessary.'

'No,' said Miss Stoner. 'I am sure that the work is not
necessary. It is an excuse to get me to move from my room.'

'Well,' said Holmes, 'I want to examine the room you're
sleeping in now — your sister Julia's room.'

The room was small, with a low ceiling15 and a wide fireplace.
There was some old furniture in the room - a bed, a table and two
chairs. Holmes, examined everything carefully.

Suddenly he pointed to a long rope which hung down by the
bed. The end of this rope touched the pillow. The rope looked
like a bell-rope for calling a servant. If the person in bed wanted
something, they could pull the rope. The rope would be attached
to a bell in another part of the house. The bell would ring and a
servant would come.

'That bell-rope looks very new,' Holmes remarked.
'Yes,' replied Miss Stoner. 'It was put in only two years ago.'
Holmes pulled the bell-rope. We waited. But nothing hap-

pened. We could not hear a bell ringing anywhere in the house.
'Look,' said Holmes suddenly. 'This isn't a real bell-rope.

It doesn't go anywhere. It's attached to a hook on the ceil-
ing.'

14 15



A Visit to Stoke Moran

We all stared up at the ceiling. Holmes was right. Then I
noticed something else. Near the top of the bell-rope was a tiny
opening in the wall. It looked like a small ventilator. Holmes saw
the ventilator too.

'That's strange,' he said. 'Air usually comes into a room from
outside, through a ventilator. But this ventilator connects two
rooms inside. I wonder why?'

'I don't know,' said Miss Stoner. 'But the bell-rope and the
ventilator were put in at the same time.'

'That's very interesting,' said Holmes. 'A bell-rope which
doesn't ring a bell and a ventilator which doesn't ventilate. They
are both false. And now, Miss Stoner, I'd like to examine your
stepfather's room.'

We went into Dr Roylott's room next door. There were a few
pieces of furniture in the room and some books. In the middle of
the floor stood a large iron safe16. The safe was locked. Holmes
knocked on the walls of the safe.

'What's in here?' he asked.
'My stepfather's business papers,' replied Miss Stoner.
'There isn't a cat inside?'
'A cat!' said Miss Stoner, in surprise. 'No. What a strange

idea.'
'Well, look,' said Holmes. He pointed to a small saucer of milk

on top of the safe.
'We don't have a cat,' said Miss Stoner. 'But there is the

cheetah. A cheetah is just a big cat.'
'Yes, of course,' said Holmes. 'But here's something else.'
A short stick was lying on top of the bed. A thin rope

was attached to this stick. One end of the rope had been
tied into a noose17. I looked at the noose. I wondered what
it was for.

'Well,' said Holmes. 'I think I've seen enough.'
We walked out into the garden. Holmes looked very seri-

ous.

Suddenly he pointed to a long rope which hung by the bed. 17



Dr Roylott Returns Night of Terror

'Miss Stoner,' he said at last, 'Dr Watson and I must wait in
your room tonight.'

Miss Stoner and I looked at each other in astonishment.
'Yes,' said Holmes. 'Your life is in great danger.'

Dr Roylott Returns

'HT'his is my plan, Miss Stoner,' said Holmes. 'Listen carefully.
L When Dr Roylott returns, go into Julia's room, but don't

go to bed. Wait until you hear Dr Roylott go to bed. Then put
a lamp18 in the window. Then go to your own room. You must stay
there all night.

'Dr Watson and I will be watching the house. The lamp in
the window will be a signal for us. When we see the lamp, we'll
come.'

'But where will you be?' asked Miss Stoner.
Holmes pointed to a building through the trees.
'Is that the village inn19?' he asked.
'Yes,' said Miss Stoner.
'Then Dr Watson and I will wait at the village inn,' said

Holmes. 'We can watch your bedroom window from there.
Goodbye, Miss Stoner, and don't be afraid.'

Holmes and I went to the inn. We paid for a room on the first
floor. From our room, we could see Stoke Moran.

As it was getting dark, a horse and carriage came along the
road. I saw Dr Roylott sitting in the carriage. The carriage went
through the big iron gates at Stoke Moran. Then it drove on, up
to the house.

'Watson,' said Holmes, 'we may be in great danger tonight.'
'Why do you think we may be in great danger?' I asked. 'What

did you see in those rooms?'
'You remember the bell-rope and the ventilator?'
'Yes,' I said. 'But I don't understand why they are important.'
'Both the bell-rope and the ventilator were put into the room

two years ago,' said Holmes. 'But they are false. They don't work.
And something else happened two years ago. Julia Stoner died.'

'Yes,' I said. 'But I still don't see . . . "
'Did you notice anything unusual about the bed, Watson?'

asked Holmes.
'No.'
'The bed was fixed to the floor. It cannot be moved. It must

always stay in the same position - next to the bell-rope and under
the ventilator.'

'Holmes!' I cried. 'I'm beginning to understand. The person
in the bed cannot escape some terrible danger.'

'Dr Roylott is a very clever man,' said Holmes. 'We're just in
time to prevent a horrible crime.'

Night of Terror

About eleven o'clock, we saw a light. It was the lamp shining
from the bedroom window.

Holmes jumped up excitedly.
'That's our signal, Watson,' he said. 'Come on!'
We hurried along the road. The yellow light was still shining

from the bedroom window. We went into the garden of Stoke
Moran and walked towards the house.

18 19



Night of Terror The Speckled Band

Suddenly a dark shape ran in front of us. It was like a child
with very long arms. But it was not a child. I felt very afraid.

'What was that, Holmes?' I asked.
Holmes laughed quietly.
'It was one of Dr Roylott's animals,' he said. 'That was the

baboon.'

We reached the house and climbed through the window, into
Julia's bedroom. Holmes closed the window. Then he whispered
in my ear.

'We must put out the light, Watson. Dr Roylott might see the
light through the ventilator.'

I took my gun out of my pocket and put it on the table. Holmes
had brought a long, thin stick with him. He put this stick on the
bed. He put a box of matches beside the stick. I put out the lamp
and we waited.

I shall never forget that terrible night. We were in complete
darkness and we knew we mustn't make a sound. We heard the
bell in the village clock. It struck midnight, then one o'clock, two
o'clock, three o'clock . . . Still we waited.

Suddenly I saw a light shining through the ventilator. Some-
body in Dr Roylott's room had lit a lamp. I heard someone moving
about quietly. Then everything was silent again. Another half
hour passed.

Then I heard a strange noise - a very soft, hissing noise. The
noise was near us in the room. Holmes jumped up and lit a match.
Immediately, I heard a low, clear whistle.

Suddenly Holmes began hitting the bell-rope with his stick.
By the light of the match, I saw his face. It was full of horror.

'Do you see it, Watson?' he shouted.
But I saw nothing. Holmes stopped hitting the bell-rope and

gazed up at the ventilator.
Suddenly we heard a dreadful cry — a cry of pain and terror. I

felt cold and sick with fear.
'What was that cry?' I whispered.

'It means that everything is over,' said Holmes. 'Bring your
gun and let's go into Dr Roylott's room."

Holmes lit the lamp. Then I followed him down the corridor to
Dr Roylott's room. We knocked twice on the door, but diere was
no reply. We pushed the door open and entered the room.

A terrible sight met our eyes. Dr Roylott was sitting beside his
safe. The door of the safe was open. The short stick with the noose
lay across Dr Roylott's knees.

Dr Roylott was dead. His eyes were staring upwards in terror.
There was something strange round his head. It was bright yellow,
with brown speckles.

'The band,' whispered Holmes. The speckled band!'
I stepped forward. Immediately the strange band began to

move.
'It's a snake,' I cried in horror.
Quickly Holmes grabbed the stick with the noose on the end.

He caught the snake's head in the noose. Then he threw the
snake into the iron safe and closed the door. The metal door
clanged shut.

8

The Speckled Band

Next morning, we took Helen Stoner away from Stoke
Moran. The poor girl was very upset by what had happened.

We took her to an aunt's house in London. She would stay there
until her wedding.

We also told the police about Dr Roylott's death. Then we
returned to our apartment in Baker Street.

'Tell me something, Holmes,' I said. 'How did you know the
"speckled band" was a snake?'

20 21



The Speckled Band

'Well,' said Holmes, 'when I examined Julia Stoner's bed-
room, I saw the bell-rope and the ventilator. I saw they were both
false. Then I noticed the bed was fixed to the floor.

'And I realised that something could pass through the ven-
tilator. It could travel down the bell-rope and land on the bed.
Immediately, I thought of a snake.

'Dr Roylott had other strange animals from India. It would be
easy for him to have a snake as well.

'So he kept it in his safe and fed it with milk. And every
night he put the snake through the ventilator. It went into his
stepdaughter's room and came down the rope. He knew that one
night it would bite the girl in the bed.'

'How did he make the snake come back to him?' I asked.
'Dr Roylott's signal to the snake was a whistle,' replied

Holmes. 'When the snake heard the whistle, it returned to its
master. Julia and Helen Stoner also heard this whistle.'

'On the night her sister died,' I said, 'Helen Stoner heard the
sound of metal clanging against metal.'

'That was the safe door clanging shut,' said Holmes.
'So when you heard the hissing noise in the room last night,' I

said, 'you knew it was the snake.'
'Yes. So, I hit it with my stick and it went back through the

ventilator. But the blows from my stick also made it angry. That's
why it bit Dr Roylott.'

'Dr Roylott wanted his stepdaughters' money,' I said. 'He
killed Julia Stoner and he tried to kill her sister, Helen, too. But
his plans went wrong. The snake finally killed its master.'

'Exactly,' said Holmes. 'And I don't feel very sorry for him.'

His eyes were staring upwards in terror. 23



Mr Cubitt's Story

THE DANCING MEN Holmes held up the paper, so that the sunlight shone through
it. It was a page torn from a notebook and the markings on it
looked like this:

A Strange Drawing

One morning, Sherlock Holmes handed me a sheet of paper.
'Look, Watson,' he said. 'Can you explain this problem?'

I looked at the paper. To my surprise, it was covered with
a line of strange pictures. These pictures looked like little
dancing men.

'A child must have drawn these,' I said. 'Where did you get
this piece of paper, Holmes?'

'It arrived by post this morning,' answered Holmes. 'A man
called Hilton Cubitt, of Ridling Thorpe Manor in Norfolk, sent it
to me. Mr Cubitt is coming to see me today.

There's a ring at the doorbell, Watson. Perhaps that's Mr
Cubitt now.'

A moment later, a tall gentleman entered the room. He had a
handsome face with clear blue eyes and looked very strong and
healthy.

This gentleman shook hands with both of us. Suddenly he
caught sight of the strange drawings.

'Here's a mystery, Mr Holmes,' he said. 'What do you think of
these drawings?'

They look like children's drawings,' replied Holmes. 'But
why do you think they are important?'

'I don't, Mr Holmes. But these drawings are making my wife
very frightened. That's why I have come to see you. I want to find
out what they mean.'

24

Holmes examined the paper carefully. Then he folded it up
and put it in his pocket.

'This is a most interesting and unusual case, Mr Cubitt,' he
said. 'Please tell us your story from the beginning.'

Mr Cubitt's Story

I 'm not very good at telling stories,' said Mr Cubitt. 'But first, I
want to explain something.

'I'm not rich, but I come from a very old and well-known
family. My family has lived at Ridling Thorpe Manor, in Norfolk,
for nearly five hundred years.

'Last year, while I was visiting London, I met an American
lady called Elsie Patrick. Elsie and I became friends and soon fell
in love. I didn't know anything about Elsie's family or her past life.
But I decided to ask her to marry me.

'The day before our wedding, Elsie spoke to me. "I've had some
very sad things happen to me in my past life, Hilton. I've done
nothing wrong, but I wish to forget my past. Please promise me you
will never ask me anything about it. If you are unable to make this

25



Mr Cubitt's Story

promise, then please go back to Norfolk and leave me."
'So I promised Elsie I would never ask her anything about her

past life. We've been married for a year now and we've been very
happy. During all this time, I've kept my promise. But one day,
about a month ago, my wife received a letter from America - 1
saw the American stamp. She read the letter and her face turned
white. Then she threw the letter in the fire.

'She said nothing, but from that time, there's been a look of
fear on her face.

'Mr Holmes, my wife is a very good woman. I'm sure she has
not done anything wrong in her past life.

'But Elsie knows I am very proud of my family. My family's long
history is very important to me. She would never do anything to
upset me. Perhaps that's the reason she's afraid to tell me her
troubles.'

'Please go on,' said Holmes.
'Well,' continued Mr Cubitt, 'yesterday morning, a strange

thing happened. I found this piece of paper lying on the sundial20

in the garden. At first, I thought it was a child's drawing.
'But when I showed the paper to Elsie, she fainted. Since then,

she has seemed like someone in a dream, and there is terror in
her eyes.

'I didn't know what to do. If I took the paper to the police,
they would laugh at me. So I came to you. Mr Holmes, please
help me. I'm not rich, but I'll spend all my money to protect my
wife from danger.'

I was sorry for Mr Cubitt. He was a good man and I saw that he
loved his wife very much.

Holmes did not speak for some time.
'Mr Cubitt, don't you think,' he said at last, 'you should ask

your wife to tell you everything.7'
'But I promised Elsie I would never ask her about her past,'

replied Hilton Cubitt. 'If she wants to tell me something, she will.
But I will not ask her to tell me.'

26 'I found this piece of paper lying on the sundial.'



Mr Cufcitt's Second Visit Mr Cubitt's Second Visit

Til be pleased to help you,'said Holmes.'I believe there i , D A i v, A • A
a meaning in the pictures of the dancing men B. I A off the marks' tW° y§ ' another drawm8 appeared.
information before I can say what it is ' m°r'Here it is:

men'Gm° £** tO ̂ f' *?*" ** my m°re Pktures of d^in,

iT^^oV^'r "* * ̂  '" h—

Holmes was delighted.
'We're beginning to get a lot of information,' he said.
'I decided to find out who was drawing these pictures,'

^ went on Hilton Cubitt. 'So the next night, I took my gun and sat
beside a window which looks out onto the garden.

'At about two o'clock in the morning, my wife came into the
room. She was wearing her night clothes. She asked me to come
to bed. But I refused.

' "No, Elsie," I said. "I want to see who is drawing these
pictures."

'Suddenly I saw Elsie's face turn very white in the moonlight.
She was looking out of the window. I looked out of the window,
too. I saw something moving near the toolhouse. A dark figure
came slowly round the comer of the toolhouse and stopped beside
the door.

'Immediately, I picked up my gun. I wanted to run out of the
house, but my wife caught me in her arms and held me back. By
the time I got outside, the man was gone.

'On the toolhouse door was the same drawing I copied before:

Mr Cubitt's Second Visit

During the next few days, Holmes was very quiet. Several
times he looked at the paper with the dancing figures on it.

Then one afternoon, about a fortnight later, we had another
visit from Mr Cubitt. He seemed worried and tired.

'My wife hasn't told me anything yet, Mr Holmes,' he said.
'But I have more pictures of dancing men and — more important
— I've seen the man who draws them.

'But I'll tell you everything that has happened. The morning
after I visited you, I found another line of dancing men. They were
drawn with chalk on the toolhouse21 which stands in the garden,
near the house. I made this copy.'

Hilton Cubitt unfolded a paper and laid it on the table.

'Excellent!' cried Holmes. 'Please go on.'
'After I'd made the copy,' continued Mr Cubitt, 'I cleaned

'I looked everywhere, but I couldn't find the man. However,
m the morning, when I looked at the toolhouse door again, I saw a
second line of dancing men. This new line is very short, but I made
a copy and here it is.'
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Terrible News

Hilton Cubitt gave another piece of paper to Holmes.

'A dark figure came slowly round the corner of the
toolhouse and stopped beside the door.'

I could see that Holmes was very excited.
Tell me,' he said, 'was this second line of figures separate from

the first?'
'It was on a different part of the door.'
'Excellent!' cried Holmes. 'This last drawing is very impor-

tant. It makes me feel hopeful. Please continue your interesting
story.'

'I've nothing more to say,' replied Hilton Cubitt, 'except, I
was angry with Elsie for holding me back. I'm sure she knows who
this man is and what these pictures mean.

"Now I must go back to Norfolk. Elsie is very frightened and I
don't want to leave her alone at night.'

'Well,' said Holmes, 'please leave these pictures with me.
I will examine them carefully. I think I'll be able to solve the
mystery soon.'

Terrible News

As soon as Hilton Cubitt left the room, Holmes ran to a table.
He put all the papers with pictures of dancing men on the

table. He began to examine them carefully.
For the next two hours, Holmes worked hard examining the

Papers. At last, he jumped up excitedly. Then he sat down again
wrote out a long telegram22.
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Terrible News

'As soon as we get an answer to this telegram, Watson,' hi
said, 'we'll visit Mr Cubitt in Norfolk. I have some importan
information for him.'

I was very curious about the telegram. I very much wantec
to know what Holmes had found out about the meaning of tht
dancing men. But I didn't ask any questions. I knew Holme
would tell me when he was ready.

Two days passed. Then on the evening of the second day
Holmes received another letter from Hilton Cubitt.

In this letter, Mr Cubitt said he had found a new drawing ol
dancing men. He had found the drawing that morning, on the
sundial in the garden. Mr Cubitt had made a copy of the drawing
in his letter:

The Investigation Begins

Ridling Thorpe Manor,' said the stationmaster. 'But perhaps
you are doctors? The lady isn't dead yet. You may be in time to
save her life.'

Holmes looked very worried.
'What do you mean?' he asked. 'What has happened at

Ridling Thorpe Manor?'
'It's terrible news,' replied the stationmaster. 'Both Mr Hilton

Cubitt and his wife have been shot. Mr Cubitt is dead and his wife
is seriously injured.'

The Investigation Begins

u

Holmes examined these pictures carefully. Suddenly he
jumped up.

'We must go to Norfolk at once, Watson,' he said.
At that moment, a telegram arrived for Holmes. It was the

answer he had been waiting for. Holmes read the telegram and his
face looked serious.

'Mr Cubitt is in terrible danger,' he said. 'He needs our help.'
But, unfortunately, we were not able to go to Norfolk that

evening. It was late and the last train had gone. The next train was
not until the morning. In the morning, we travelled to Norfolk.
At the station, we asked our way to Ridling Thorpe Manor.

'Are you the detectives from London?' the stationmaster
asked.

'Why do you think we are detectives from London?' asked
Holmes in surprise.

'Because the Norfolk police are already on their way to
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At once, Holmes hurried to a carriage. During the journey to
Ridling Thorpe Manor, he did not speak at all. But I could

see he was very worried.
Holmes had known that Hilton Cubitt was in danger. But he

had not arrived in time to save his client.
At last, we could see a large, old house through the trees. This

was Ridling Thorpe Manor. As we came near the front door, I
saw the toolhouse and the sundial in the garden. These were the
places where Hilton Cubitt had found pictures of dancing men.

A carriage was standing outside the front door and a small
man was getting out. This man introduced himself as Inspector
Martin of the Norfolk police. Holmes introduced himself to
Inspector Martin.

Inspector Martin was very surprised when he heard my
friend's name.

'But, Mr Holmes,' he said, 'the crime was committed23 only
a tew hours ago, at three o'clock this morning! How did you get
here from London so quickly?'
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The Investigation Begins

'When I left London, I didn't know a crime had beer
committed,' replied Holmes. 'I was on my way here to preven
a crime. But I've arrived too late.

'Now, Inspector Martin, shall we work together on thj;
investigation24.7 Or do you want to work alone.7'

'I'd be very pleased to work with you,' replied the inspector.
'Good,' said Holmes. 'Then let's try to find out what

happened.'
At that moment, the doctor, an old, white-haired man, came

downstairs from Mrs Cubitt's room. The doctor said the lady was
very badly injured, but that she would not die.

The bullet which wounded Mrs Cubitt had gone into her
brain. The gun which fired the bullet had been very close to her.
Hilton Cubitt had been shot through the heart.

A gun had been found lying halfway between the two bodies.
Two shots had been fired from the gun.

But we did not know if Mrs Cubitt had shot her husband first,
and then shot herself. Or if Mr Cubitt had shot his wife, and then
killed himself.

'Has Mr Cubitt's body been moved7' asked Holmes.
'No,' replied the doctor. 'We had to move the lady. We

couldn't leave her lying injured on the floor.'
'Who found the body?'
'Two of the servants,' said the doctor.
'Then let's hear their story,' said Holmes.
The two women told their story very clearly. They had been

awakened from their sleep by a loud noise. A minute later, they
heard another noise.

Both women ran downstairs from their rooms. The door of a
downstairs room was open and Mr Cubitt lay dead on the floor.

Near the window, his wife was sitting with her head against
the wall. One side of her face was red with blood.

The window was shut and the room was full of smoke and the
smell of gunpowder.

34 Mr Cubitt lay dead on the floor. His wife u>as sitting u>ith her
head against the wall.



Holmes Sends a Note

Immediately, the two servants sent for the doctor. When hi
arrived, they carried Mrs Cubitt upstairs.

The servants did not understand why the crime had beer
committed. Mr and Mrs Cubitt had been in love with each othe:
and had never quarrelled.

Tell me,' said Holmes, 'when did you first notice the smell o
gunpowder.7'

'When we ran out of our rooms upstairs,' replied the women.
'Good,' said Holmes. 'Now let's examine the room down-

stairs.'

Holmes Sends a Note

Holmes Sends a Note

The room was small, with a window looking onto the garden.
Mr Cubitt's body lay on the floor.

'You can take away the body now,' said Holmes. Then he
turned to the doctor. 'Have you found the bullet which injured
Mrs Cubitt?' he asked.

'No,' replied the doctor. The bullet is still somewhere in her
brain. We will have to operate to remove the bullet.'

'We know that two bullets were fired from the gun,' said
Inspector Martin. 'And we know where each bullet went. One
bullet killed Mr Cubitt and the other injured his wife.'

'Yes,' said Holmes, 'but what about the third bullet - the
bullet which passed through the window frame25?'

He turned suddenly and pointed to a hole in the bottom of the
window frame. This hole was the exact shape and size of a bullet.

'Wonderful!' cried Inspector Martin. Then three shots were
fired, not two. A third person was in the room.
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'But, Mr Holmes, how did you know a bullet had passed
through the window frame?'

'Well,' said Holmes, 'you remember that the two servants
smelt gunpowder as soon as they left their rooms?'

'Yes,' said the Inspector, 'but I still don't understand.'
'The servants' rooms are upstairs. But the gun was fired

downstairs. So the smell of the gunpowder must have been blown
from this room to the rooms upstairs. Therefore the window must
have been open.

'A third person could have stood outside the window and fired
through it. If somebody inside the room fired at this person and
missed, the bullet would pass through the window frame.'

'I understand,' said Inspector Martin. 'But when the servants
entered this room, they said the window was shut.'

'That was because Mrs Cubitt had just shut it,' replied
Holmes. 'But what's this?'

A lady's handbag was standing on a small table. I saw it was
full of money. The money was tied together. We counted twenty
fifty-pound notes.

This money is important evidence26,' said Holmes. 'And now
let's find out where the third bullet went, after it passed through
the window frame.'

We all went outside into the garden. There were flowers
planted underneath the window. The flowers were broken and
there were large footprints on the ground.

Holmes searched in the grass. Suddenly he bent forward and
picked something up. It was the missing bullet.

'I think, Inspector,' he said, 'that our case is nearly solved.'
'But, Mr Holmes,' said the Inspector, 'who was this other

Person and how did he get away?'
I will tell you later,' said Holmes. 'First, I want to know if

were is a place near here called Elrige's?'
We asked the servants, but none of them had ever heard the

name. Then the boy who worked with the horses remembered a

37



Holmes Explains the Mystery Holmes Explains the Mystery

farm with that name. This farm was a very lonely place, many
miles away, near a village called East Rushton.

Holmes thought for a moment, then he smiled strangely.
'Bring a horse,' he said to the boy. 'I want you to take a

message to Elrige's Farm.'
Then Holmes took from his pocket all the papers with the

pictures of the dancing men on them. He sat down at a table and
worked carefully. Finally, he handed a note to the boy.

'Give this note to the person whose name is written on the
outside,' said Holmes. 'And don't answer any questions.'

I looked at the outside of the note. It was addressed, in large
writing, to:

Mr Abe Slaney,
Elrige's Farm,
East Rushton,
Norfolk

Then Holmes turned to Inspector Martin.
'I think you should get more policemen,' he said. 'We'll have

to catch a dangerous criminal.'

Holmes Explains the Mystery

After the boy had left, Holmes gave some instructions to the
servants.

'If anybody comes and asks for Mrs Cubitt,' he said, 'do not
tell the person that she is ill. Show the person straight into the
sitting-room.
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'There are some things I want to explain,' Holmes said. Then
he told the Inspector about Hilton Cubitt's visits to us in London
and the pictures of the dancing men.

'These drawings are a kind of secret writing,' said Holmes.
'They look like children's drawings, but they are messages. Each
picture of a dancing man is a letter of the alphabet. Let me show
you how it works.

'The letter of the alphabet which appears most often in
English is "E". The picture of the dancing man which appeared

most often was >/ V So I knew that this picture was "E".
'Some of the dancing men were holding flags. I guessed that a

figure with a flag was the last letter of a word.'
'But how did you find out what the other pictures meant?' I

asked.
'On Hilton Cubitt's second visit,' went on Holmes, 'he

brought three different messages with him. The last message was:

'In this message, there was no flag. So the message had to be
one, single word. What could it be?

'The word had five letters, and the second and fourth letters
were "E". It might be "Sever" or "LEVER" or "NEVER". But
the most probable of these words was "NEVER". So I knew the

Pictures J<», - C and ^ were "N", "V" and "R".'
'Excellent, Holmes!' I cried. 'What did you do next?'
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'Well,' said Holmes, '1 knew Mrs Cubitt's first name was Elsie.
I noticed that there was another word which had five letters and
began and ended with "E".

m-u
l» , ^ L and ....\,..probably were "L",'So I guessed that

"S" and "I".

'In one message, the word "ELSIE" was written twice. In
this message, the word before "ELSIE" had four letters and
ended with "E". I guessed the writer was asking Elsie to do
something.

'So now I looked for an English word of four letters ending in
"E". The best word I could think of was "COME".

H and fl .were "C", "O"'So now I knew that -i^
and "M".

'Then I looked again at the first message which Hilton Cubitt
brought us:

'I used the figures holding flags to divide the message into
words. I wrote out the message, putting dots for the letters I didn't
know.

.M .ERE ..E SL.NE.
'The first missing letter had to be "A" and the second letter

had to be "H".
AM HERE A.E SLANE.

'Clearly, the two missing letters were part of somebody's
name. So it must be:

AM HERE ABE SLANEY
'Then I looked at the second message again:

'This message worked out like this:
A. ELRI.ES

'Here, I worked out that the missing letters could be "T"
and "G".

AT ELRIGES
'I decided to find out if there was a place near Ridling

Thorpe Manor that was called Elrige's. If there was, then I
knew that this was where the writer of the messages was
staying.'

Inspector Martin and I looked at Holmes. It was wonderful
how my friend had found out the meaning of the danc-
ing men.

'What did you do then, Mr Holmes?' asked the Inspector.
'I guessed that Abe Slaney was an American. "Abe" is an

American name and Mrs Cubitt had recently received a letter
from America. This letter had upset her very much.

'So I sent a telegram to a friend in the New York Police, asking
about Abe Slaney. This was the reply:

THE MOST DANGEROUS CROOK27 IN CHICAGO
'The same evening, I received Hilton Cubitt's final message.
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The Murderer is Caught The Murderer is Caught

The message worked out like this:
ELSIE . RE.ARE TO MEET THY GO.

Clearly, the missing letters had to be "P" and "D".
ELSIE PREPARE TO MEET THY GOD

'I knew the Cubitts were in terrible danger. Abe Slaney was
saying he was going to kill Mrs Cubitt. So Dr Watson and I
hurried immediately to Norfolk, but, unfortunately, we were too
late. Hilton Cubitt was dead.'

'But what about Abe Slaney, Mr Holmes?' asked Inspector
Martin. If he is the murderer and he's at Elrige's, he may escape.
'Don't worry,' said Holmes. 'He won't escape. He's coming here.'

'Here?' said Inspector Martin, in surprise. 'Why should he
come here?'

'Because I have written and asked him to come here.'
Holmes stood up and walked to the window. 'Look, here he

is!'

The Murderer is Caught

Aman was coming up the path. He was tall and handsome,
with a large, black beard. The front doorbell rang loudly.

'Hide behind the door,' said Holmes quietly. 'This man is very
dangerous and we must be careful.'

We waited in silence for a minute. Then the sitting-room door
opened and the man stepped into the room. At once, Holmes put

a gun against his head and Inspector Martin put handcuffs25 on
his wrists.

The man looked at us. His black eyes looked angry.
'I received a note from Mrs Cubitt,' he said. 'Where is she?'
'Mrs Cubitt is badly injured,' replied Holmes. 'Her life is in

great danger.'
The man cried out. He sat down on a chair and put his face in

his hands.
'I didn't know she was injured,' he said. 'I shot her husband

when he tried to kill me. But I would never injure Elsie. I love her
more than anything in the world.'

Suddenly the man looked up.
'Wait,' he said. 'If Elsie is badly injured, who wrote this?'
He opened his hands and threw a note onto the table.
'I wrote it, to make you come here,' said Holmes.
'You wrote it? But how could you know the meaning of the

dancing men?'
'I worked out what the figures meant,' replied Holmes. 'But

now, tell us your story.'
'All right,' said the man. 'If Elsie dies, it doesn't matter what

happens to me.
'My name is Abe Slaney and I've known Elsie since she was a

child. Her father was head of a gang of crooks in Chicago and I was
a member of the gang.

'Elsie's father thought of the secret writing of the dancing
men. The members of the gang used it to send messages to one
another.

'Elsie and I were engaged to be married. But Elsie hated
her father's business and she didn't want to be married to a
criminal. So she ran away to England. She met and married this
Englishman, Hilton Cubitt.

'I wrote to Elsie, but she didn't answer my letters. In the end,
' came to England and stayed at Elrige's Farm.

'I knew Elsie understood the pictures of the dancing men. So I
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The Murderer is Caught

left messages where she would see them. In the messages, I asked
her to come away with me. But her only answer was "Never".

'Then Elsie wrote me a letter. She said she would meet me at
three o'clock in the morning, when her husband was asleep.

'She brought money with her. She offered me the money and
asked me to go away. I became angry and tried to pull her through

the window.
'Just then, her husband rushed in, carrying a gun. He fired the

gun at me and missed. At the same moment, I shot at him and he

fell down dead.
'I ran across the garden. As I ran, I heard the window shut

behind me.
'I have told you the truth, gentlemen. I didn't know Elsie was

hurt. She must have shot herself after I left.'
While Abe Slaney was talking, a carriage arrived with two

policemen in it. Inspector Martin turned to his prisoner.
'It's time for us to go, Slaney. Goodbye, Mr Holmes. I hope I'll

work with you again one day.'
As the carriage drove away, I saw the note which Abe Slaney

had thrown on the table. This was what Holmes had written:

At once, Holmes put a gun against his head and Inspector
Martin put handcuffs on his wrists. i

'If you work it out, Watson,' said Holmes, 'you'll find it
means: "Come here at once".

'I knew Abe Slaney would come when he read the note. He
would think Mrs Cubitt had written it.'

'Well,' I said, 'criminals have used the dancing men to help
them in their crimes. But now the dancing men have been used
to catch a criminal.'

'Yes,' said Holmes. The dancing men have finally done some

good.'
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THE RED-HEADED LEAGUE

The Red-Headed League

A Strange Advertisement

After my marriage, I lived with my wife in another part of
London. My friend, Sherlock Holmes, continued to live in

his apartment in Baker Street.

One day, in the autumn of 1890,1 decided to visit my friend.
But when I arrived at his apartment, I found he already had a
visitor.

This visitor was an old man. He was fat, with a red face. But
the most unusual thing about him was his hair. The colour of the
old man's hair was bright red.

'I'm sorry, Holmes,' I said. 'I didn't know you were busy. I'll
wait in the next room.'

But Holmes didn't want me to leave. He pulled me into the
room and closed the door.

'This is my friend, Dr Watson,' he said to the old man. 'Dr
Watson has helped me with many cases. Perhaps he can also help
me with yours.'

'I'm very interested in your cases, Holmes,' I said.
This is Mr Jabez Wilson,' went on Holmes. The old man

nodded to me. 'Mr Wilson has come to me with a very unusual
story. It's the most interesting problem I've heard for a long time.

'Mr Wilson, could you please tell your story again from the
beginning. I'd like Dr Watson to hear it.'

Mr Wilson pulled an old newspaper out of his pocket. He
opened the paper on his knees and turned to the advertisement29

oage. He ran his finger down the advertisements and pointed to
of them.
'Here,' he said. 'This is how everything began. Read it for

yourself, Dr Watson.'
I took the newspaper from Mr Wilson. It was The Morning

Chronicle and was two months old. I read the advertisement:

THE-RED HEADED LEAGUE30:
Another vacancy31 is open for someone wishing to
become a member of the League. Salary - four pounds
a week. All red-headed men, over 21 years old,
should come on Monday at 11 a.m. to this address:

Duncan Ross, The Red-Headed League,
7 Pope's Court, Fleet Street, London.

The Red-Headed League

a strange advertisement,' I said. 'Whatever can it
mean:

Holmes laughed.
'It's very unusual, isn't it,' he said. 'And now, Mr Wilson, tell

i your story.'
'Well,' began Mr Wilson, 'I have a small shop in Saxe-Coburg

|Square, in the City of London.
'But business hasn't been good for some time and I don't make

luch money any more. I used to have two assistants, but now I
only pay one. My assistant is very interested in learning the

siness. So he's willing to work for half-pay.'

46 47



The Red-Headded League

That's very unusual,' said Holmes. 'What's the name of your
assistant?'

'Vincent Spaulding,' replied Mr Wilson. 'He's an excellent
assistant, but he does do one unusual thing.

'Spaulding's very interested in photography and takes a lot
of photographs. He develops32 these photographs himself, in the
cellar of my shop. When he isn't working, he spends all his time
down there.'

'Go on,' said Holmes.

'We live very quietly,' continued Mr Wilson. 'I don't go out
very much. And I don't read the newspapers.

'One day, eight weeks ago, Spaulding came to me with a
newspaper in his hand. It was the same newspaper that I showed
you, Dr Watson.

' "Mr Wilson," said Spaulding, "I wish I were a red headed
man."

' "Why?" I asked in surprise.
' "Well, here's another vacancy in The Red-Headed League,"

replied Spaulding.

' "The Red-headed League?" I asked. "What's that?"
'Spaulding looked at me and laughed.
' "Haven't you ever heard of The Red-Headed League?" he

said. "You could become a member and make a lot of money."
'Well, when I heard that,' said Mr Wilson, 'at once I became

very interested. I needed more money. So I asked Spaulding to tell
me more about this Red-Headed League.

' "I think," said Spaulding, "the League was started by an
American called Ezekiah Hopkins. Ezekiah Hopkins was a very
rich man and enjoyed doing unusual things.

' "Hopkins was red-headed himself and liked all other red'
headed men. So when he died, he left his money in his will to help
red-headed men. The money was used to start The Red-Headed
League. When a man became a member, he would be paid an
excellent salary for very little work.

An Unusual Job

' "And now," said Spaulding, showing me the advertisement
again, here's another vacancy in the League. Why don't you
go to Pope's Court, Mr Wilson? I'm sure you could become a
member!"

'Now as you see, gentlemen,' continued Mr Wilson, 'the
colour of my hair is bright red. So I thought I could easily become
a member of this Red-Headed League.

'Vincent Spaulding seemed to know a lot about the League.
So I asked him to come with me to the address in the
advertisement.

'We closed the shop for the day and set off for Pope's Court,
Fleet Street.'

3

An Unusual Job

' lT Tolmes rubbed his hands together and smiled.
J A JL'Your story is very interesting, Mr Wilson,' he said.
t 'Please go on.'
* 'When we arrived in Fleet Street,' said Mr Wilson, 'we saw a

-! strange thing. The whole street was full of red-headed men. They
! had all come to answer the advertisement.
» 'When I saw how many men were waiting, I wanted to go
' home. But Spaulding wouldn't let me. He pushed and pulled me
I through the crowd. At last, we reached the stairs leading up to the
f office in Pope's Court.
^ 'A small man was sitting behind a table. The colour of this

, i man's hair was a brighter red than my own.
II ' "This is Mr Jabez Wilson," said my assistant. "He has come

about the vacancy in the League."
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An Unusual Job

'He pushed and pulled me through the crowd.'

'The small man looked carefully at my hair. He looked at it for
such a long time, that I began to feel uncomfortable. Suddenly he
bent forward and grabbed my hair with both hands. He pulled at it
until I cried out in pain.

' "I'm sorry I hurt you," said the man. Your hair is a wonderful
colour. But I had to make sure you weren't wearing a wig. I had to
find out if your hair was real."

'Then he went over to the window. He opened it and
shouted down to the men below that the vacancy was taken.
The red-headed men groaned with disappointment. Then they
began to walk away. In a few minutes, the square was empty.

' "My name," said the small man, is Duncan Ross. You are
now a member of The Red-Headed League. When can you start
the job?"

' "Well, that's going to be difficult," I replied. "I have a
business already."

' "Oh, don't worry about that, Mr Wilson!" cried Spaulding.
"I can look after the business for you."

'Now I knew that my assistant was a good worker and would
look after my business well. So I asked Duncan Ross, "What are
the hours of work ?"

' "Every day, between the hours of ten o'clock and two
o'clock," replied Mr Ross. "The pay is four pounds a week. But
you must not leave the office at any time between ten and two. If
you leave for any reason, you'll lose your pay."

' "I understand," I said. "And what is the work?"
' "Copying out the Encyclopaedia Britannica33. The first book

of it is over there. Will you be able to start work tomorrow?"
' "Certainly," I said.
' "Then goodbye, Mr Wilson. I hope you enjoy your work."
'I went home with Vincent Spaulding. I was very pleased. It

was an easy job to copy out the Encyclopaedia Britannica and the
pay was excellent.

'Next morning, when I arrived at the office, Duncan Ross was
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Who is Vincent Spaulding?

waiting for me. I started copying out the Encyclopaedia,
beginning with subjects under the letter 'A'. Sometimes Mr Ross
left the room, but he kept coming back to see me.

'At two o'clock, he told me I had worked well. He was very
pleased. Then I left and he locked the office door behind me.

'The same thing happened every day for eight weeks. Every
morning, I began work at ten, and every afternoon, I left at two.
Every Saturday, I was given four pounds for my week's work.

'At first, Mr Ross came into the office to watch me work. But
after a time, he stopped coming. However, I was afraid to leave the
office. 1 didn't want to lose my pay.

'But suddenly everything came to an end.'
'To an end?' asked Holmes.
'Yes. This morning, I went to work as usual at ten o'clock.

But the door was locked and on it was this card.'
Mr Wilson held up a small piece of white card. This is what

it said:

THE RED-HEADED LEAGUE IS FINISHED
9th October 1890

Who is Vincent Spaulding?

Holmes and I looked at the piece of white card. Then we
looked at Mr Wilson's face. He looked very disappointed

and upset. But there was also something rather funny about The
Red-Headed League. Suddenly we both began to laugh.

Who is Vincent Spaulding?

'I don't think this is funny!' cried Mr Wilson angrily. 'Perhaps
I should take my case somewhere else.'

'No, no,' said Holmes. 'Your case is most interesting and
unusual. What did you do when you found the card on the

door?'
'I was extremely surprised,' replied Mr Wilson. 'I didn't know

what to do. I went to all the offices in the building. I asked if
anyone knew anything about The Red-Headed League. But no
one had ever heard of Duncan Ross.

'At last, I went home to Saxe-Coburg Square. I told Vincent
Spaulding what had happened. Spaulding said that if I waited,
perhaps the League would write to me. Perhaps they would
explain everything in a letter.

'But I didn't want to wait. I've lost a good salary of four
pounds a week. I want to find out about this League and why

they did this to me.
'Mr Holmes, I've heard you help people when they are in

trouble. That's why I've come to you.'
'You've done the right thing,' said Holmes. 'I'll be happy to

help you, Mr Wilson. But first, I want to ask you some questions.
'Your assistant - Vincent Spaulding - how long had he been

with you before he saw the advertisement?'
'About a month.'
'How did he get the job as your assistant?'
'I advertised the vacancy for an assistant. He came for the job.

I chose him because he looked a good worker. Also, he said that
he would work for half-pay.'

'What does Spaulding look like?'
'He's small and he moves very quickly. He's about thirty years

old and has a white mark on his forehead.'
Holmes sat up straight in his chair. He was very excited.

'Tell me,' he said, 'is there anything unusual about Vincent

Spaulding's ears?'
'Yes,' replied Mr Wilson. 'They have holes in them for
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A Visit to Saxe-Coburg Square

earrings. He told me a gypsy did this when he was a boy.'
Holmes sat back in his chair. He was thinking carefully.

I guessed Holmes already knew something about Vincent
Spaulding.

'Is Spaulding still working for you?' asked Holmes.
'Yes,' said Mr Wilson. 'I've left him at the shop.'
'Good. Mr Wilson, I need a couple of days to investigate this

case. I hope to solve the mystery by Monday.'
After Mr Wilson had left Holmes turned to me.
'Well, Watson,' he said, 'what do you think about all this?'
'I can't understand it,' I said. 'It's most unusual.'
'I need to think,' said Holmes. 'Please don't speak to me for at

least fifty minutes. I'm going to smoke my pipe.'
Holmes sat back in his chair. He put his black pipe between his

lips, lit it and closed his eyes. Time passed. I thought Holmes had
fallen asleep.

But suddenly Holmes jumped out of his chair and put his pipe
down on the table.

'Watson,' he said, 'we're going to visit Saxe-Coburg Square.
Come quickly!'

A Visit to Saxe-Coburg Square

We soon arrived in Saxe-Coburg Square, the place where
Mr Wilson had his shop.

Saxe-Coburg Square was in a poor part of London. It was a
small and quiet square. On each side of the square stood a line
of old houses. In the middle of the square was a small garden
with grass.

A Visit to Saxe-Coburg Square

Sherlock Holmes stopped outside one of the houses on the
corner of the square. On the wall of this house, there was a brown
notice, with the words 'Jabez Wilson', in white letters.

Holmes walked up and down and examined all the houses,
carefully. Then, he returned to Mr Wilson's house. Suddenly, he
hit the pavement outside the house with his stick.

Then he went up to the house and knocked on the door.
Immediately, it was opened by a young man. This was Mr
Wilson's assistant, Vincent Spaulding.

'Excuse me,' said Holmes, 'can you please tell me the way to
the Strand?'

'Go down the third street on the right,' answered the assis-
tant quickly. Then he closed the door.

'That's a very clever young man,' said Holmes, as we walked
away. 'I know something about him. I believe he's the fourth
cleverest man in London.'

'It is clear,' I said, 'that Mr Wilson's assistant plays an
important part in the mystery of The Red-Headed League. Did
you ask the way to the Strand in order to get a look at him?'

'No,' said Holmes, 'but I wanted to look at the knees of his
trousers.'

'The knees of his trousers!' I cried in astonishment. 'Well
then, Holmes, why did you hit the pavement?'

'Watson,' said Holmes, 'we haven't time to talk now. We've
seen the front of Saxe-Coburg Square. Let's now investigate the
street at the back.'

We went round the corner and walked to the street at the
back of Mr Wilson's shop. We were immediately in one of the
busiest and most important streets in the City of London.

A line of expensive shops and important businesses were
on the side of the road. Hundreds of people were hurry-
ing along the pavements and the roadway was busy with
traffic.

It was hard to believe that Saxe-Coburg Square, with its poor,

54 55



A Visit to Saxe-Coburg Square

old houses, was immediately behind the important buildings of
this busy street.

Holmes looked along the line of buildings.
'This is very interesting, Watson,' said Holmes. 'There's a

tobacconist's, a newspaper shop, a restaurant and — ah yes, the
offices of the City and Suburban Bank!'

I could see that Holmes was very excited.
'Well, Watson, I have some work to do that will take a few

hours,' went on Holmes. This case at Saxe-Coburg Square is
serious.'

'Serious!' I said. 'Why?'
'An important crime has been planned. 1 think we'll be in time

to stop it. But I'll need your help tonight.'
'At what time?'
'Ten o'clock.'
'Then I'll be at your apartment at ten.'
'Good. And, Watson - there may be some danger, so please

bring your gun with you.'
I said goodbye and went home. I thought about everything

that had happened. It was a very strange case and I did not
understand what was happening. Where were we going that
evening? What were we going to do? Why did I have to bring
my gun? And who was Vincent Spaulding?

There was only one thing to do. I had to wait until the even-
ing. Then perhaps I would get the answers to these questions.

Holmes knocked on the door. Immediately, it was opened
by a young man.
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Everything is Ready

Everything is Ready

At quarter past nine that evening, I set off for Baker Street,
where Holmes lived. When I arrived, I noticed two carriages

standing outside Holmes' door.
Inside his apartment, Holmes was talking with two men. One

of them was Peter Jones, a police detective. The other man was tall
and thin, with a sad-looking face.

'Hello, Watson,' said Holmes. 'I think you already know Mr
Jones, of Scotland Yard? Let me introduce Mr Merryweather. Mr
Merry weather is also coming with us tonight.'

'I hope it's important,' said Mr Merryweather sadly. 'I usually
play cards with friends on Saturday evenings. I have played cards
every Saturday night for the last twenty-seven years.'

'I think,' said Sherlock Holmes, 'that tonight you'll play a
more exciting game than cards. You, Mr Merryweather, may
lose thirty thousand pounds. You, Jones, may win the prize of a
criminal you want to catch.'

'The criminal John Clay, murderer and thief,' said Jones.
'He's a young man, but he's a very clever criminal. I want to
catch him more than any criminal in London.'

'It's time to go now,' said Holmes. 'Two carriages are waiting.
You two take the first carriage and Watson and I will follow in
the second.'

The carriages went quickly through the dark streets. I won-
dered where we were going.

'We're nearly there,' Holmes said to me, at last. 'This man,
Merryweather, is a bank manager. I wanted Jones to come with us,
too. He's a good man. He's not very clever, but he is very brave.
Ah, here we are.'

We were in the same busy street which Holmes and I had

visited earlier in the day. We got out of the carriages and Mr
Merryweather took us down to a small side door. Through the
door was a corridor with an iron gate at the end.

Mr Merryweather opened this gate and stopped to light a lan-
tern. Then he took us down some steps and through another gate.
At last, we were in a large cellar. This cellar was full of large boxes.

Holmes took out his magnifying glass34 and went down on his
knees to the floor. He examined the stones on the floor, then he
jumped up and put the glass back in his pocket.

'We have about an hour,' he said. 'The criminals will wait
until Mr Wilson is in bed. Then they'll move quickly.

'Watson, we're in the cellar of one of the most important
banks in London. Mr Merryweather is the manager of this bank.
He'll explain why the criminals are interested in this cellar at the
moment.'

'About two months ago,' whispered Mr Merryweather, 'the
bank received a huge amount of gold from the Bank of France. But
we never used the money. It's still Lying in boxes in this cellar.'

'I understand,' I said.
'Well,' said Holmes, 'let's make our plans. Mr Merryweather,

you must put out the lantern. But first we must decide where to
stand. These men are dangerous and we must move carefully.

'I want you all to hide behind these boxes. When I shine my
light on the men, attack them. If they fire a gun, Watson, shoot
back at once.'

I hid behind a wooden box and put my gun on the top.
Merryweather put out the lantern and we were in complete
darkness. They have only one way of escape,' whispered Holmes.
'That's back through Wilson's shop, into Saxe-Coburg Square.
Have you done what I asked you, Jones?'

'Three police officers are waiting at the front door of Wilson's
shop,' replied Jones.

'Excellent! Then everything is ready. And now, we must be
silent and wait.'
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Hoimes took out his magnifying glass and went down on his
knees to the floor.

The Capture of John Clay

M ore than an hour went by. My arms and legs were tired, but
I was afraid to move. The only sound was the breathing of

my three companions.
Suddenly I saw a light. This light was coming from underneath

the floor. It was shining between the stones in the floor. Slowly,
one of the large stones turned over on its side. There was now a
large, square hole in the floor. The light of a lantern shone up
through this hole.

I saw a face appear in the hole. By the light of the lantern, I
recognised Mr Wilson's assistant.

The young man pulled himself up out of the hole. He turned
round and stood beside the hole. Then he began to pull up
another man after him. This man was thin and small, with bright
red hair.

'Let's hurry,' whispered the young man.
Suddenly Holmes jumped forward and grabbed the young

man by the neck. Immediately, the man with red hair jumped
down the hole again. Jones grabbed at his coat and I heard the
sound of tearing cloth.

At once the young man pulled a gun out of his pocket. But
Holmes hit the man's hand and the gun fell to the floor.

'Stand still, John Clay,' said Holmes. 'You cannot escape.'
'All right,' replied the young man. 'But I think my friend has

escaped.'
'You'll see your friend very soon,' said Jones. 'There are three

policemen waiting for him at the front door.
'Now then, John Clay, please hold out your hands. I'm going

to take you to the police station.'
Jones put the handcuffs on John Clay's wrists, then led him
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But Holmes hit the man's hand and the gun fell to the floor.

The Mystery Explained

upstairs. Holmes, Mr Merryweather and I followed them from the
cellar.

'Mr Holmes,' said Mr Merryweather, 'I don't know how the
bank can thank you. You've stopped a very serious crime.'

'Well,' replied Holmes, 'I've wanted to catch John Clay for a
long time. And this has been a very interesting case. I enjoyed
hearing the strange story of The Red-Headed League.'

8

The Mystery Explained

Later, Holmes explained to me the mystery of The Red-Headed
League.
'You see, Watson,' he said, 'it was clear that the men in The

Red-Headed League wanted only one thing. They wanted to get
Mr Wilson out of his shop for some hours every day. That was why
they kept him busy, copying out the Encyclopaedia Britannica.

'John Clay is a very clever young man. It was he who
thought of The Red-Headed League. He thought of it because
Mr Wilson's hair was the same colour as his friend's hair - very
bright red.

'Clay put the advertisement in the newspaper. Then he
showed the advertisement to Mr Wilson. He suggested to Mr
Wilson that he should apply for the vacancy in the League.

'When Mr Wilson told us that his assistant was working for
half-pay, I knew he must have a special reason for wanting
the job.'

'But Holmes,' I said, 'how could you know what that
reason was?'

'Mr Wilson's business is small,' explained Holmes. There was
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The Mystery Explained

nothing inside his house to attract criminals. So I knew it must be
something outside the house. What could it be?

'Mr Wilson told us that Vincent Spaulding - or John Clay
- spent many hours in the cellar. The cellar! He was doing
something in the cellar.

'I asked more questions about Vincent Spaulding. I found
out that he was John Clay, one of London's most dangerous
criminals. What could John Clay want in Wilson's cellar? I could
think of only one answer. He must be digging a tunnel to another
building.

Then we visited Saxe-Coburg Square and I surprised you by
knocking on the pavement with my stick. I wanted to find out
exactly where the cellar was. I knew, from the sound my stick
made, that there was no cellar in front of the house. Then I rang
the doorbell and Clay answered it. I saw that the knees of his
trousers were dirty. Clearly, he had been digging for many hours.

'But what was he digging for? I walked round the corner,
saw the City and Suburban Bank and knew that I had solved
the problem. When you went home, I visited Jones and Mr
Merry weather and asked them to come with us tonight.'

'How did you know the animals would try to rob the bank
tonight?' I asked.

'When they closed The Red-Headed League office,' said
Holmes, 'I knew the tunnel was finished. The criminals were
ready to move.

Today is Saturday. No one would come to the bank until
Monday. If they took the gold tonight, they would have two days
for their escape.'

'Excellent, Holmes!' I said. 'You have been very clever. You
have solved another difficult case.'
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Points for Understanding

THE SPECKLED BAND

1

1 Who is:
(a) Sherlock Holmes?
(b) Or Watson?

2 Why did Sherlock Holmes wake up Or Watson?
3 Why was the lady shivering?
4 What was unusual about the lady's hair?

2
1 What was Helen Stoner's sister's first name?
2 When the two young girls were only two years old, what did their

mother do?
3 Where did Dr Roylott live?
4 When Mrs Roylott died, what would happen to her money?
5 What happened to Mrs Roylott?
6 Who were Dr Roylott 's only friends?
7 What kind of animals did Dr Roylott have?
8 What happened two weeks before Julia's wedding?

1 Describe the position of the three bedrooms at Stoke Moran.
2 One night, Julia asked Helen a strange question.

(a) What was the question?
(b) What did Helen suggest might be the answer to Julia's question?

3 Why did Julia and Helen always lock their doors at night?
4 When Helen Stoner heard her sister scream, she ran into the

corridor. What two strange noises did she hear?
5 What words did Julia cry out before she fainted?
6 How did Holmes know that Julia had lit a match to see round her?
7 Why was it certain that Julia was alone in her bedroom?
8 What was, Helen Stoner's explanation of Julia's strange words?
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Two strange things had happened at Stoke Moran.
(a) Why did Helen have to move out of her bedroom?
(b) Which bedroom did she move into?
(c) What strange noise did she hear last night?

1 What marks did Holmes notice on Helen Stoner's arm?
2 Why did Holmes want to visit Stoke Moran?
3 What did Dr Roylott tell Holmes to do?
4 Why did Dr Roylott bend the poker?
5 How did Holmes show that he was as strong as Dr Roylott?

How did Holmes and Watson get to Dr Roylott's house?
Who was the first person they saw when they arrived?
What did Holmes think was very unusual about:

(a) the work being done to Helen's bedroom?
(b) the bell-rope in Julia's bedroom?
(c) the ventilator?

Why did Holmes ask if there was a cat in the safe?
What was strange about the stick lying on the bed?
Where did Holmes want to wait that night?

What did Holmes ask Helen Stoner to do when she heard Dr
Roylott go to bed?
What would Holmes and Watson do when they saw the lamp in the
bedroom window?
Holmes told Watson that they might be in great danger that night.

(a) What was unusual about the bell-rope?
(b) What was unusual about the ventilator?
(c) What was unusual about the bed?
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1
2
3
4
5

1
2
3
4

What frightened Dr Watson in the garden at Stoke Moran?
Why would Dr Watson never forget that night?
What strange noise did Watson hear?
What did Holmes do when he heard the noise?
What was the 'speckled band'?

8

How did the snake come from the next door bedroom?
How did Dr Roylott make the snake come back to him?
What was the loud, clanging noise which Helen had heard?
Why was Holmes not sorry for Dr Roylott?

THE DANCING MEN

1

1 Why had Hilton Cubitt come to see Sherlock Holmes?
2 Mr Cubitt showed Holmes some strange drawings. What did they

look like?

1 How long has Mr Cubitt's family lived at Ridling Thorpe Manor?
2 Mr Cubitt made a promise to his wife before they got married.

(a) What was the promise?
(b) Had Mr Cubitt kept his promise?

3 What happened when Mrs Cubitt received a letter from America?
4 Why would Mrs Cubitt never do anything to upset her husband?
5 Mr Cubitt found a piece of paper on the sundial in the garden.

(a) What was on the paper?
(b) What happened when he showed the paper to his wife?

6 Why did Mr Cubitt not want to go to the police?
7 What did Holmes ask Mr Cubitt to do?

About a fortnight later, Mr Cubitt came back to see Sherlock
Holmes.

(a) What did he bring with him?
(b) What else had he seen?

Mr Cubitt had his gun in his hand and started to run out of the house.
(a) What did he want to do?
(b) What did his wife do?

Hilton Cubitt was sure that his wife knew more about the mystery
than she had told him. What else did he think she knew?
How did Sherlock Holmes think he could solve the mystery?

1 What did Holmes do after studying the pictures of the dancing men?
2 What made Holmes sure that Hilton Cubitt was in great danger?
3 Why were Holmes and Watson not able to go to Ridling Thorpe

Manor that evening?
4 What terrible news did the stationmaster give Holmes and Watson?

5
1 Why was Inspector Martin surprised at the arrival of Holmes and

Watson?
2 What had happened to:

(a) Hilton Cubitt?
(b) Mrs Cubitt?

3 How many shots had been fired from the gun lying between the two
bodies?

4 When did the servants first notice the smell of gunpowder?

1 Why was Holmes sure that:
(a) more than two shots had been fired?
(b) the window had been open?

2 Where could a third person have stood?
3 Who did Holmes say had shut the window?
4 What did they find in the lady's handbag?
5 What did Holmes find in the grass outside the window?
6 Holmes sat down and wrote a note. Who was this note addressed to?

69



7
1 Holmes explained the meaning of the drawings.

(a) What did each figure stand for?
(b) What was the meaning of the figures which were holding flags?

2 After studying the drawings of the dancing men carefully, Holmes
found a name and address.

(a) What was the name?
(b) What was the address?

3 Holmes had sent a telegram to America.
(a) Who had Holmes sent the telegram to?
(b) What had he asked in the telegram?
(c) What reply had he received?

4 What was the meaning of the final message?
5 Inspector Martin was worried that the criminal might escape. Why

was Holmes not worried?

1 The sitting-room door opened and a man stepped in.
(a) What did Holmes do?
(b) What did Inspector Martin do?

2 What was Abe Slaney's reason for killing Hilton Cubitt?
3 Why did Abe Slaney not believe that Mrs Cubitt was badly injured?
4 Why had Elsie run away from America?
5 What was the reason for the large amount of money in the handbag?
6 Why did Holmes say that the dancing men had finally done some good?

THE RED-HEADED LEAGUE

1

1 When Or Watson visited Holmes, there was another visitor. What
was unusual about this visitor?

2 Mr Wilson showed Watson an advertisement in a newspaper.
(a) Where was there a vacancy?
(b) How much was the salary?
(c) What kind of men should apply?
(d) Where should they apply?
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1 Where was Mr Wilson's shop?
2 Who was Vincent Spaulding?
3 There were some unusual things about Vincent Spaulding.

(a) How much was he willing to work for?
(b) What was he very interested in?
(c) Where did he go when he wasn't working?

4 Vincent Spaulding told Mr Wilson that he wished he was a red-
headed man. Why?

5 What did Vincent Spaulding tell Mr Wilson which made him very
interested in The Red-Headed League?

6 Why did Mr Wilson think it would be easy for him to become a
member of The Red-Headed League?

3
1 What did Mr Wilson see in Fleet Street that was so very strange?
2 What was strange about the small man sitting behind the table?
3 Why did the small man pull Mr Wilson's hair?
4 Duncan Ross offered Mr Wilson the job.

(a) Who was willing to look after Mr Wilson's shop?
(b) What were the hours of work?
(c) What was Mr Wilson to do?
(d) Do you think this was an unusual job? Why?

5 Why was Mr Wilson frightened to leave the office during the hours
of work?

6 How did Mr Wilson learn that the job had ended?

1 Why did Holmes and Watson begin to laugh?
2 Mr Wilson told Spaulding that the job had ended. What did

Spaulding suggest Mr Watson should do?
3 Holmes asked Mr Wilson to describe Spaulding.

(a) What was unusual about Spaulding's forehead?
(b) What was unusual about Spaulding's ears?

4 'Watson. Come quickly!' Holmes said to Watson. Where were they
going.'
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5 8_
What did Holmes do to the pavement outside Mr Wilson's house in 1 Why had John Clay and Duncan Ross started The Red-Headed
Saxe-Coburg Square? League?
Watson asked Holmes if he had knocked at the door of Mr Wilson's 2 Three things made Holmes think that the criminals were digging a
house so that he could have a look at Vincent Spaulding. What was tunnel. What were these three things?
Holmes' reply? 3 Why was Holmes sure the criminals would try to rob the cellar
What was the difference between the houses in Saxe-Coburg Square under the bank that night?
and the houses in the street behind the Square?
Holmes saw a building in the street behind Saxe-Coburg Square
which made him very excited. What building was it?
Holmes told Watson that he needed his help.

(a) When was Watson to come to Holmes' apartment?
(b) What was Watson to bring with him?

6

Who was:
(a) Peter Jones?
(b) Mr Merryweather?

'Tonight you'll play a more exciting game than cards,' said Holmes
to Mr Merryweather.

(a) What might Mr Merryweather lose?
(b) What might Jones win?

Mr Merryweather told Watson why the criminals were interested in
the cellar of the bank. What was the reason?
Why were three policemen waiting at the front door of Wilson's
shop?

7
Watson and the others waited in the cellar, in darkness. Watson
suddenly saw a light.

(a) Where was it coming from?
(b) What happened to one of the large stones in the floor?

'I think my friend has escaped,' said John Clay. What was Mr Jones'
reply?
Why did Holmes think it had been an interesting case?
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Glossary

1 private detective (page 4)
someone who finds out how a crime happened. Sherlock Holmes is
not a policeman, he is a private detective. But sometimes he helps
the police solve crimes or find criminals.

2 client (page 4)
someone who comes to Sherlock Holmes and asks for help.

3 case (page 4)
one of the crimes or mysteries that Holmes tries to solve.

4 veil (page 4)
a thin piece of cloth, worn over a woman's face. (See illustration on
page 9.)

5 twins (page 5)
two children - brothers or sisters - born at the same time.

6 private income (page 6)
money which a person receives from a bank every year. The person
who receives the money does not have to do any work.

7 inherit (page 6)
to receive money or a house from someone who has died.

8 gypsies (page 6)
a group of people who do not live in houses and move from one
place to another.

9 band (page 6)
(a) a group of people who travel together - for example, a band of
gypsies.
(b) a piece of cloth worn round the head or neck.

10 cheetah and baboon (page 6)
wild animals from India. A cheetah is a large cat and a baboon is a
large ape.

11 fainted (page 8)
to feel weak and ill because you are frightened or injured.

12 handkerchief (page 10)
a brightly coloured piece of cloth.

13 examine (page 11)
to look at something very carefully.

14 will (page 14)
a paper written by a person which says what will happen to their
money and property when that person dies.
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15 ceiling (page 15)
the part of the room which is over your head.

16 safe (page 17)
a strong metal box, where you can keep money or valuables.

17 noose (page 17)
a rope twisted round and tied in a circle.

18 lamp (page 18)
a light that contains oil or paraffin. When the oil burns it shines
brightly.

19 inn (page 18)
a place where people stay for the night and have drinks and meals.

20 sundial (page 26)
a sundial is a clock which stands outside. It tells the time by the sun.
The sun shines on the hands of the sundial and the shadow tells the
time.

21 toolhouse (page 28)
a building where tools are kept.

22 telegram (page 31)
this story happened in 1890. There were no telephones then. The
fastest way of sending a message over a distance was by telegram.

23 committed - to commit a crime (page 33)
when criminals rob a bank, they commit a crime.

24 investigation (page 34)
to investigate a crime is to find out how the crime was committed
and who the criminals were.

25 window frame (page 36)
the wood which is fixed round a window and holds it to the wall.

26 evidence (page 37)
anything which helps detectives to understand how a crime was
committed and who the criminals were.

27 crook (page 41)
another word for criminal.

28 handcuffs - handcuffs an his wrists (page 43)
handcuffs are a pair of metal rings, joined by a chain. Police put
handcuffs on criminals' wrists, so that they cannot easily use their
hands.

29 advertisement (page 46)
a notice put in a newspaper telling people about jobs, things to see etc.
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30 League - Red-Headed League (page 47)
a league is a group of people who join together because they are all
interested in the same thing. A Red-Headed League would be
people who came together because they all had red hair.

31 vacancy (page 47)
a place for a new worker.

32 develops (page 48)
to develop photographs is to take the film from a camera and make
pictures. This is done in a dark room like a cellar.

33 Encyclopaedia Britannica (page 51)
a large number of books, like dictionaries, which give information
about many things.

34 magnifying glass (page 59)
a glass you look through which makes things look larger.
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